IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN THE MATTER OF THE PARENTAL RIGHTS AS TO:	Case No. 690 Electronically Filed Dist. Ct. No. 15eq 044 2016 R01:57 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court
AAMIYAH DE'NASIA LAMB AND CHRISTOPHER LAMONT BYNUM, JR., MINORS.	
KEAUNDRA DEBERRY, AAMIYAH DE'NASIA LAMB AND CHRISTOPHER LAMONT BYNUM, JR., MINORS Co- Appellants,)))))
VS.))
CLARK COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF FAMILY SERVICES,	,))
Respondents.	<i>)</i>))

CO-APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal was filed pursuant to Rule 4(a) of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure and is an appeal of a final judgment terminating parental rights. Written notice of the entry of judgment was filed on September 22, 2015, and the Notice of Appeal was filed October 23, 2015.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Standard of Review
- II. The District Court's Decision to Terminate Keaundra Deberry's Parental Rights was not Supported by Substantial Evidence
 - A. The District Court Erroneously Terminated Parental Rights on the Grounds of Token Efforts, Failure of Parental Adjustment and Unfitness
 - B. As Repeatedly Admitted by the Department of Family Services, Keaundra Deberry had Completed her Case Plan, had a Bond with her Children and had Otherwise Cooperated with the Department
 - C. The Only Reason the Department of Family Services Sought and the District Court Granted Termination of Parental Rights was due to Keaundra Deberry's Failure to Admit to a Crime
 - D. It was Not in the Children's Best Interests to Terminate Parental Rights

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 13, 2010, a Petition alleging abuse and neglect was filed against the natural mother, Keaundra Deberry ("Ms. Deberry"). (AA I, pg. 1-3). On February 4, 2011, the adjudicatory hearing was held. (AA I, pg. 52). After that hearing, the Petition was substantiated. (AA I pg. 52-59). On or about March 15, 2011, the natural mother's case plan was submitted to the court. (AA I pg. 72-79).

On May 24, 2011, the Petition to Terminate Parental Rights was filed. (AA I pg. 101-108). After several continuances, trial began in earnest on November 2, 2012, and concluded on March 15, 2013. (AA II pg. 203; AA III, pg. 468, 559). On April 29, 2013, the decision terminating parental rights was filed with the Notice of Entry of Order filed on April 30, 2013. (AA III, pg. 564-570). On May 28, 2013, Appellant timely filed the first Notice of Appeal. (AA III, pg. 576-577). On November 13, 2014, the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada Reversed and Remanded for a new trial as to appellant's parental rights. (AA IV, pg. 766-776). On December 8, 2014, Remittitur was issued and was received by the District Court on December 11, 2014. (AA IV, pg. 776). On March 10, 2015, the hearing on remand was held and on March 25, 2015, closing arguments were heard. (AA V, pg. 889; AA VI, pg. 962, 987). On September 21, 2015, Judge Teuton issued the Decision on Remand and reaffirmed the court's finding that there have been no

behavioral changes of Ms. Deberry that would warrant return of the children to her care. (AA VI, pg. 1058). On October 23, 2015, Appellants filed the Joint Notice of Appeal. (AA VI, 1066-1067).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In April of 2010, an anonymous call was received by the child abuse hotline alleging that the father, Christopher Bynum, Sr., burned the child on the face with an iron and that the parents leave drugs and drug paraphernalia within reach of the children. (AA I, pg. 37; AA II, pg. 277-278). As a result, Ms. Roberta Mossman ("Ms. Mossman") was assigned to investigate the allegations. (AA II, pg. 277). Although she was able to make contact with the oldest child at school, she was only able to make contact with Ms. Deberry via telephone. (AA II, pg. 278). Ms. Mossman verified that her notes regarding her interview with Aamiyah reflected that Aamyah stated that her father told her to watch her brother, that instead of watching her brother she was watching T.V., her mother had ironed some clothes and left the iron on the coffee table, that her mother went into the bathroom to do her hair and her brother "kissed the iron" and burned his left cheek. (AA II, pg. 298).

Ms. Deberry has maintained that she was the only adult in the home at the time of the injury, which took place in her bedroom. (AA I, pg. 54; AA II, pg.

340). While Christopher Bynum, Sr. had picked up the oldest child from school and dropped her off at home, he was not home at the time of the injury, but was at the home approximately five to ten minutes after the burn occurred. (AA II, pg. 340-341). Ms. Deberry maintains that while she was in the bathroom at the time getting ready for work, she heard the iron hit the floor and came out to investigate. (AA II, pg. 345, 350). It was at that time that Aamiyah, who was six years old at the time, stated that Christopher tried to pull at the cord of the iron and tried to kiss the iron. (AA II, pg. 350).

Ms. Deberry looked at the injury and immediately contacted her mother in Louisiana, who was a nurse of some fifteen years. (AA II, pg. 331). Ms. Deberry's mother indicated to her that she should put ointment on the injury, to watch the burn and if it blistered, immediately take the child to the emergency room. (AA II, pg. 331-332). Ms. Deberry also contacted her employer, who sent over some burn cream for the baby. (AA II, pg. 331-332). When the injury didn't immediately blister and the child was relatively comforted, Ms. Deberry left the children with Christopher Bynum, Sr., and went to work. (AA II, pg. 331-332). After the subsequent contact with DFS in May of 2010, however, Ms. Deberry moved her family to Bossier City, Louisiana, where her step father was stationed at Barksdale Air Force Base. (AA II, pg. 323).

Upon learning of the family's move, Ms. Mossman contacted the Base for help in gaining protective custody of the children. (AA II, pg. 283-284). Office of Special Investigations in Louisiana (OSI) went to the home, photographs were taken of Christopher's face, and Aamiyah was removed from Ms. Deberry. (AA I, pg. 46; AA II, pg. 283-284). The photographs of Christopher's burn were admitted into evidence during the Adjudicatory Trial of Ms. Deberry. (I, pg. 9-15). Although these photographs are the only photographs that have ever been entered into evidence in either the Juvenile or Domestic case, they were not authenticated as the photographs viewed by Dr. Mehta during her determination of whether or not the injury was consistent with abuse/ neglect, even though the photographs were presented to her at the Adjudicatory Hearing. (AA V, pg. 943-945).

At the time Aamiyah was removed, Christopher was visiting the father and paternal grandmother in another city in Louisiana. (AA II, pg. 335, 337). Once contact was made with the paternal grandmother, the baby was taken to see a doctor in Louisiana for an evaluation at the request of the Department of Family Services ("DFS"). (AA II, pg 337). That doctor examined the child, with the background information that it was suspected that natural father burned the baby with the iron and determined that there was "no evidence of abuse." (AA I, pg.

¹ Photographs are in the condition received by the court. Appellant possesses color copies of the same photographs that can be provided to the Court upon request.

134, 183; AA VI, pg. 1063). Subsequently, Christopher was also removed and, after a UCCJEA hearing, both children were returned to Nevada. (AA I, pg. 33).

A Petition for Abuse/ Neglect was filed on or about May 13, 2010, and alleged that Ms. Deberry had either physically abused or improperly supervised Christopher Bynum, Jr., resulting in a burn to his face. (AA I, pg 1-3). Additional allegations as to Ms. Deberry included medical neglect, drug use, domestic violence and absconding from the jurisdiction during the pendency of a CPS investigation. (AA I, pg 1-3). At the plea hearing on May 25, 2010, Ms. Deberry entered a denial and the matter was set for adjudicatory hearing. (AA VI, pg. 1078). In addition, a request for placement of the children with the maternal grandmother pursuant to the Interstate Compact for the Placement of Children was submitted and the children were subsequently placed with their grandmother. (AA I, pg. 99).

In December of 2012, Ms. Deberry was pregnant and subsequently gave birth to Keaundre Bynum, a child who was never removed from her care. (AA III, pg. 480). Further, despite the allegations against Ms. Deberry and her pending case in Nevada, neither the case worker nor her supervisor reported Ms. Deberry to the other state's child protective services division. (AA III, pg. 480).

Thereafter, the adjudicatory hearing was continued several times and actually didn't take place until almost a year later, on February 4, 2011. (AA I, pg. 52). During the adjudicatory hearing, the Hearing Master took testimony from Dr. Mehta, who testified she had reviewed photographs of the child's injuries. (AA I, pg. 53-54). Dr. Mehta was able to testify by looking solely at the photographs that the shape of the injury was not consistent with an accidental injury and that the iron had actually been held to the baby's face. (AA I, pg. 54).

When previous counsel attempted to rebut Dr. Mehta's testimony, and the resulting presumption, with the reports from the doctor in Louisiana who had actually examined the child and found that no abuse occurred, the Hearing Master refused to allow the introduction of such evidence due to counsel's inability to provide certified copies of the doctor's report. (AA I, pg. 52-59). Thus, with no rebuttal evidence, the State moved to strike language from the Petition which alleged that Ms. Deberry had improperly supervised her child. (AA I, pg. 52-59). This request was granted and the Hearing Master found that Ms. Deberry had physically abused her child by holding an iron to her baby's face. (AA I, pg. 52-59). While the allegations regarding medical neglect and absconding were also found to be true, the Hearing Master dismissed allegations of drug use and domestic violence. (AA I, pg. 52-59).

On February 22, 2011, the report lodged by DFS contained the Investigation Summary Disposition Report and the Affidavit of Roberta Mossman, stating that the report received by the CPS hotline alleged that "Christopher Bynum Sr. burned the child on the face with an iron." (AA I, pg. 37, 45).

On or about March 15, 2011, Ms. Deberry received her case plan. (AA I, pg. 72-79). Ms. Deberry's case plan included that she maintain stable housing and income, keep in contact with DFS, and complete parenting classes.² (AA I, pg. 72-79). In addition, Ms. Deberry was required to complete a physical abuse assessment and "be able to articulate in dialogue with the specialist and therapist(s) the sequence of events which resulting (sic) in physical abuse, as sustained by the Court, and how he/she will be able to ensure that no future physical abuse to Christopher occurs. In further measurement of mitigation of the risk for physical abuse, there will be no further injuries to their child which are incompatible with an accidental explanation." (AA I, pg. 76). In April of 2011, despite having had her case plan only one month, DFS listed the concurrent goal as Termination of Parental Rights and its goal for the next review period to "refer the case to the District Attorney for TPR and adoption." (AA I, pg. 100).

² The drug assessment requirement was removed from the case plan due to its dismissal at the Adjudicatory Hearing.

Due to the amount of time it took to get to the Adjudicatory Hearing, the children had already been placed with their maternal grandmother in Louisiana. (AA I, pg. 99). Ms. Deberry, having already moved to Louisiana, worked on her case plan from there. (AA II, pg. 333-339; AA III, pg. 484-486). While in Louisiana, she maintained stable housing and regular, almost daily, contact with her children as supervised by the grandmother. (AA II, pg. 333-339; AA III, pg. 484-486). Ms. Deberry completed parenting classes she commenced immediately after receiving her case plan. (AA II, pg. 357; AA III, pg. 503). In order to further address the parenting component of her case plan, Ms. Deberry sought counseling in Louisiana through Nicky Pharr. (AA II, pg. 346-347). The caseworker was in touch with this therapist and, in fact, contacted a regular service provider in Las Vegas regarding the subjects covered in physical abuse treatment so that she could communicate this information to Ms. Deberry's therapist in Louisiana. (AA III, pg. 488). Once this information was passed along, Ms. Deberry did attend and complete therapy in Louisiana. (AA III, pg. 488).

A regular six month review was held in September of 2011, and DFS presented a report to the Court outlining Ms. Deberry's progress on her case plan. (AA I, pg. 131-138). At that time, Ms. Deberry had completed parenting, had maintained housing, had held jobs throughout the matter, and had completed both

her assessment and therapy through the therapist in Louisiana. (AA I, pg. 131-138). At that time, DFS was satisfied with Ms. Deberry's progress on her case plan and with the programs she had been involved with and even stating:

"Ms. Deberry has successfully completed her case plan and has the knowledge and tools to effectively parent her children. Natural Mother has diligently worked to complete her case plan and regain custody of her children. The Department of Family Services recommends postponement of TPR and lifting the supervised visit order as it pertains to the natural mother." (AA I, pg. 136).

In the same report, the case worker reported to the court that Ms. Deberry had completed her case plan and that there was a doctor in Louisiana who examined the child and found that no physical abuse had occurred. (AA I, pg. 134). In fact, DFS was so satisfied with Ms. Deberry's progress that they approached the District Attorney and asked if the evidence regarding the burn to the baby could be re-evaluated; their request was denied. (AA III, pg. 500). Despite Ms. Deberry's progress and DFS's satisfaction therewith, the District Attorney and the Hearing Master determined that the therapy wasn't sufficient because Ms. Deberry did not admit to holding the iron to the baby's face. (AA III, pg. 486). In fact, DFS admits that but for Ms. Deberry's refusal to admit to holding the iron to the child's face, termination of parental rights would not have been sought. (AA III, pg. 487).

Thereafter, in March of 2012, another report was submitted to the court by DFS. (AA I, pg. 150-155). In that report as well, DFS indicated that Ms. Deberry had completed her case plan and referenced the Louisiana doctor's findings of no physical abuse once again. (AA I, pg. 150-155). The Department further noted that Ms. Deberry had acknowledged negligence and improper supervision resulting in the injury. (AA I, pg. 153). Once again, however, because Ms. Deberry refused to admit the she held an iron to the baby's face, the recommendation remained termination of parental rights and adoption. (AA I, pg. 150-155).

Sometime in the early part of 2012, Ms. Deberry moved to South Carolina and took possession of a home that her father had left her in his will. (AA II, pg. 360). She provided this proof of continued housing to DFS. (AA II, pg. 370-89; AA III, pg. 484). In addition, Ms. Deberry obtained full time employment in South Carolina sufficient to support both herself and her after-born child. (AA II, pg. 367-368). While she had seen her children almost daily while living in Louisiana, she continued to keep in contact with them telephonically, sometimes several times per day. (AA II, pg. 370-373). Further, the grandmother would bring the children to see their mother and brother in South Carolina on occasion. (AA II, pg. 372-373).

Because the Hearing Master had determined that the therapy Ms. Deberry had completed was not sufficient, the DFS supervisor, Michelle Douglas, located another therapist for Ms. Deberry. (AA III, pg. 393). While the supervisor did not check the therapist's qualifications, it turns out that Jane Fortune ("Ms. Fortune") was imminently qualified to address the Department's issues, having spent years dealing with parents who abuse their children and children who suffered abuse.

(AA II, pg. 216-220).

The caseworker was in regular contact with Ms. Fortune and consulted with Ms. Fortune regarding the issues to be addressed in therapy. (AA III, pg. 488). As a result of this therapy, both Ms. Fortune and the case worker noted a marked change in Ms. Deberry's behavior and demeanor. (AA III, pg. 498-499). Ms. Fortune further observed Ms. Deberry's interaction with her after-born child at the request of DFS. (AA II, pg. 232). Ms. Fortune, who is also a mandatory reporter, expressed no concern regarding Ms. Deberry's treatment of her child. (AA II, pg. 232-233). It was Ms. Fortune's position that Ms. Deberry had successfully completed physical abuse therapy and that she is not at risk to re-offend. (AA II, pg. 231-242).

The only "fly in the ointment" with regard to the therapy was Ms. Fortune's misunderstanding that the court had "metaphorically" found that Ms. Deberry had

physically abused her child. (AA II, pg. 234-235). However, even after it was explained to her that the court found that Ms. Deberry had actually abused her child by holding an iron to the child's face, Ms. Fortune indicated that her opinion would not change. (AAII, pg. 271-272). Ms. Fortune indicated that based upon her years of training and experience in dealing with both the abused and abusers, she saw none of the signs or symptoms in Ms. Deberry that she would expect to see in an abusive parent. (AA II, pg. 271-272). Ms. Fortune noted that Ms. Deberry's demeanor had substantially changed over the course of treatment, she observed Ms. Deberry to be protective and appropriate with her other child, and she opined that Ms. Deberry's risk to re-offend was low. (AA II, pg. 231-242).

Despite two positive reports from two separate therapists, an observed behavioral change in addition to Ms. Deberry's successful completion of the other components of her case plan, DFS still recommended termination of parental rights and adoption because of a perceived "lack of behavioral change". (AA III, pg. 457-458). Specifically, because Ms. Deberry refused to admit she held the iron to Christopher's face, termination of parental rights was the only recourse. (AA III, pg. 397).

Accordingly, trial regarding the state's Petition to Terminate Parental Rights commenced, in earnest, on November 2, 2012, and finished on March 15, 2013.

(AA III pg. 203; AA III, pg. 468, 559). Witnesses testified as outlined above and evidence was presented. Despite admitted evidence to the contrary, the District Court made a finding that Christopher's injury was physical abuse and because Ms. Deberry refused to admit holding the iron to the child's face, parental rights were terminated based upon token efforts, failure of parental adjustment and unfitness.

(AA III, pg. 564-570). Further, the District Court found it was in the best interests of the children that parental rights be terminated. (AA III, pg. 564-570). Curiously, however, the District Court did not find that there was a continuing risk of injury to the children if they were returned to their mother. (AA III, pg. 564-570).

On or about March of 2013, Aamiyah and Christopher were removed from their maternal grandmother due to allegations that Aamiyah was sexually abused by her (then 14 year-old) uncle who also resided in the home, and were placed in a foster home in Nevada. (AA III, pg. 590; AA IV, pg. 662). On or about May of 2013, the placement disrupted due to Aamiyah's "behaviors." (AA III, pg. 590). On or about April of 2013 an ICPC was requested for Aamiyah and Christopher to be placed with maternal great uncle and his wife. (AA III, pg. 590). Due to multiple delays, the children languished in foster care for approximately *seventeen*

(17) months while awaiting placement with maternal relatives.² (AA IV, pg. 648). Since May of 2010, Christopher has been placed in twelve (12) different homes. (AA III, pg. 588). Because Ms. Deberry's parental rights had been terminated, the children received no visits or contact with Ms. Deberry. (AA III, pg. 586). It was not until August of 2014 that the children were placed with maternal relatives in South-Carolina. (AA-III, pg. 588).

The Notice of Appeal as to the District Court's decision to terminate Ms. Deberry's parental rights was timely filed on May 28, 2013. (AA III, pg. 576-577). On November 13, 2014, this court granted the appeal, and reversed and remanded the matter for a new trial as to appellant's parental rights. (AA IV, pg. 766-776).

On November 11, 2014, Ms. Deberry filed her Motion for Visitation, Motion to Appoint a CAP and to Change Permanency Plan to Reunification based on the decision from the Supreme Court and the state's refusal to reinstate visits between Ms. Deberry and her children. (AA IV, pg. 718, 723). The matter was set to be heard December 24, 2014 in Department O (District Court Judge Frank Sullivan). (AA IV, pg. 720). The state filed a (late) Opposition to Ms. Deberry's Motion on December 24, 2014 Opposing not only Ms. Deberry's request for visitation and

² Christopher and Aamiyah were removed from maternal grandmother March 2013, the ICPC referral was made in April 2013 and approved June 2014; however, placement of Aamiyah and Christopher with great maternal aunt and uncle did not happen until August 2014. (AA IV, pg. 648).

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