## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA OFFICE OF THE CLERK

In the Matter of the Parental Rights as to: AAMIYAH DE'NASIA LAMB AND	<ul><li>Nevada Supreme Court No.</li><li>69047</li></ul>		
CHRISTOPHER LAMONT BYNUM,	District Court No.	D446967	
JR. MINORS.	) Electronically Filed Apr 12 2016 11:12 a.n Tracie K. Lindeman		
KEAUNDRA DEBERRY,	Clerk of	Supreme Court	
Co- Appellant	{		
vs.	{		
CLARK COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF FAMILY SERVICES	}		
Respondent	}		
	_)		

### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

### Appeal From Order Granting Petition to Terminate Parental Rights, Eighth Judicial District Court, Honorable Robert Teuton, Clark County

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### 1. STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL

The Nevada Supreme Court has well-established legal precedence regarding the close scrutiny a district court decision receives regarding the preservation or severance of parental rights. Matter of Parental Rights as to N.J., 116 Nev. 790, 79, 58 P.3d 126, 129, (2000). (See also In Matter of Parental Rights as to A.J.G, 122 Nev. 1418, 1423, 148 P.3d 759, 763 (2006) (internal citations omitted). On appeal, The Nevada Supreme Court "review[s] the district court's factual findings in its order terminating parental rights for substantial evidence." Id. Substantial evidence is that evidence which a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion. State Emp. Security v. Hilton Hotels, 102 Nev. 606, 608, 729 P.2d 497, 498 (1986).

In the present matter, substantial evidence supported the termination of parental rights being in the children's best interest and that numerous parental faults existed.

2. CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE SUPPORTED CHRISTOPHER JR. AND AAMIYAH'S BEST INTERESTS BEING SERVED BY THE TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS

NRS 128.109(2) provides that when a child has been placed outside of his or her home pursuant to NRS 432B and has resided outside of his or her home pursuant to that placement for 14 months of any 20 consecutive months, the court **must** presume the best interests of the child are served by the termination of parental rights (emphasis added).

There is no dispute that CHRISTOPHER JR. and AAMIYAH were removed from the home of their parents by Bossier County Child Protective Services on May 6, 2010. R.A., page 0070, lines 6-7. CHRISTOPHER JR. and AAMIYAH continued to reside in foster care placement with their maternal grandparents who identified themselves as an adoptive resource. R.A., page 0198, lines 24-27. At the time of the second termination of parental rights trial. CHRISTOPHER JR. and AAMIYAH resided in a placement pursuant to NRS 432B for fifty-eight (58) months. Therefore, the district court correctly applied the statutory presumption regard the termination of parental rights being in the children's best interests. NRS 128.109(2) (See also, A.J.G., 122 Nev. 1418 at 1426).(See also In re D.R.H., 120 Nev. 422, 92 P.3d 1230 (2004). R.A. page 0058, lines 16-19.

Children's "best interests must be viewed from the child's, rather than the parent's, perspective." In re Shon Austin, 194 S.W.3d 490 (2005) (internal citations omitted). "Although the best interests of the child and parental fault are distinct considerations, determining the best interests of the child necessarily includes considerations of parental fault, and both standards must be proven by clear and convincing evidence." In re K.D.L., 118 Nev. 737, 744, 58 P.3d 181, 186 (2002) (emphasis added). See Also, Matter of N.J., 116 Nev. 790 at 800, 8 P.3d 126 at 132 (quoting Kobinski v. State, 103 Nev. 293, 296, 738 P.2d 895, 897 (1987)). Additionally, when the child is not in the physical custody of the parent,

the district court shall consider "[t]he physical, mental or emotional condition and needs of the child." A.J.G., 122 Nev. 1418. See NRS 128.107(2).

In the Interest of J.V. a child, (Two Cases), 526 S.E.2d 386, 395 241 Ga. App. 621, 631, (1999), the court found it was in the child's best interest to terminate parental rights where J.V. suffered 13 fractured bones, the parents denied responsibility, and had not provided a medically consistent explanation for how J.V. suffered his injuries. The court reasoned that because the parents "refused to acknowledge that J.V. needed protection from future injury and failed to provide a plan for such protection and that if he were returned to them, he would go back to the very same environment in which he was injured. Accordingly, the court found that it was in J.V.'s best interest that the rights of his parents be terminated." J.V., 526 S.E.2d at 391 (emphasis added).

Based on the analysis of J.V., there is clear and convincing evidence in the record that it is in the children's best interest for parental rights to be terminated. Ms. DeBerry demonstrated a lack of insight into CHRISTOPHER JR.'s injury. R.A. When questioned about her understanding of the injuries that CHRISTOPHER JR. had, Ms. DeBerry, stated that "I was told he kissed the iron" R.A. page 0363, lines 17-24, R.A. pages 0364 and 0365. *An explanation that was unreasonable when first proffered and remained so 2 years later*. R.A., page - 365, lines 1-19. Ms. DeBerry testified that she was the only parent present when

CHRISTPOHER JR. sustained a triangle burn to his left check consistent with the shape of an iron. R.A.

Ms. DeBerry denies physically abusing CHRISTOPHER JR. She claims that she did not see the manner in which CHRISTOPHER JR. actually sustained the burn to his face and claims that she learned the manner from AAMIYAH. R.A., page 0363-0364. AAMIYAH actually reported that she did not see how CHRISTOPHER JR. sustained the burn. R.A., page 0093, lines 21-27. Meaningful therapy "to remedy the conditions which resulted in the removal of the child must consist of more than a mere denial of all culpability or responsibility of past conduct." In re Sonia H., 576 N.Y.S.2d 165, 177 A.D.2d 575 (1991). "The requirement that a parent acknowledge and recognize abuse is essential for any meaningful change to occur." In re S.R., 600 N.W.2d 63, 65 (Iowa 1999). Ms. DeBerry has not engaged in meaningful therapy to address the cause of the injuries to CHRISTOPHER JR., to identify the precipitating factors that led to the abuse, and to develop a safety plan to avoid future occurrence. Therefore, clear and convincing evidence supported the finding that termination of parental rights is in the children's best interest.

The court properly terminated respondents' parental rights based upon the best interests of the children, as there is no presumption that the children's well-being will best be served by return to their natural parents (Matter of Star Leslie W., 63 N.Y.2d 136, 147–148, 481 N.Y.S.2d 26, 470 N.E.2d 824).

# 3. CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE SUPPORTS FINDINGS OF PARENTAL FAULT

In order to terminate parental rights, at least one of the enumerated factors under NRS 128.105(2) (a)-(f) must be proved. NRS 128.105. Here, there is substantial evidence to support termination of Ms. DeBerry's parental rights on the following grounds: neglect 128.105(b), unfitness NRS 128.105(c), failure of parental adjustment NRS 128.105(d), risk of serious physical injury to the child if returned to his parents NRS 128.105(e) and only token efforts to avoid neglect or unfitness or reduce the risk of harm if the child is returned to the parents NRS 128.105 (f)(2)(3) and (4).

# A. Neglect<sup>1</sup> Was Proven In The Instant Matter As Well As Grounds Found By District Court

Ms. DeBerry neglected CHRISTOPHER JR. by failing to seek medical treatment for his injuries when she knew or should have known medical treatment was required. J.A. at 431. CHRISTOPHER JR. had a burn to the left side of his face. Ms. DeBerry has a court-substantiated petition for neglecting CHRISTOPHER JR.'S medical needs and Ms. DeBerry has not demonstrated *any* observable behavior change to remedy CHRISTOPHER JR. being a neglected

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> NRS 128.014 in pertinent part defines a neglected child as 1) who lacks the proper parental care by reason of the fault or habits of his parent, guardian or custodian; 2) Whose parent or guardian or custodian neglects or refuses to provide proper or necessary subsistence, education, medical or surgical care, or other care necessary for his health morals or well-being; 3) whose parent, guardian or custodian neglects or refuses to provides the special care made necessary by his physical or mental condition.

child. <u>Id.</u> at 431, 47. She has not even acknowledged that there were any signs that CHRISTOPHER JR. was in pain. Ms. DeBerry testified that she applied Neosporin to the second or third degree burn for a period of one week and then applied coco butter to the healed burn area for another week. According to Ms. DeBerry, the burn was completely healed by May 6, 2010. Therefore, there is clear and convincing evidence that CHRISTOPHER JR. was a neglected child. Accordingly, there was substantial evidence supporting the district court's conclusion that Petitioner proved neglect under NRS 128.105(2)(b) by clear and convincing evidence.

### 1. NRS 128.106(7)

NRS 128.106(7) applies to AAMIYAH because in determining neglect or unfitness, the court <u>must</u> consider if there is an "**unexplained injury** of a **sibling** of the child." NRS 128.106(7) (emphasis added). "When the warning flags from the storms of abuse and neglect are still flying and there is clear and present danger to children, the court must exercise its proper function in removing the other child from the home." <u>Schenck v. United States</u>, 249 U.S. 47(1919). "The state, under the scrutiny of the court, need not wait until a child's life is permanently and irretrievable impaired before acting." <u>In re Nicole B.</u>, 703 A.2d 612, 618 (R.I. 1997) (internal citations omitted).

CHRISTOPHER JR. is AAMIYAH'S brother. AAMIYAH'S sibling suffered unexplained injuries. <u>Id.</u> Because the testimonial and documentary evidence is **uncontroverted** that CHRISTOPHER JR.'S **injuries are unexplained**, there is clear and convincing evidence that AAMIYAH was neglected. Therefore, there is not substantial evidence supporting the district court's conclusion "that Petitioner has not proved unfitness under NRS 128.106(7) by clear and convincing evidence." Id. at 447.

### B. Unfitness

NRS128.018 defines unfit parent as "any parent of a child who, by reason of his fault or habit or conduct towards the child or other persons, fails to provide such child with proper care, guidance, and support."

### 1. NRS 128.106 (2)

In determining unfitness of a parent, NRS 128.106 provides conduct of the parents that diminish suitability. NRS 128.106 (2) provides the district court shall consider if the parent engages in conduct toward a child of a physically cruel or abusive nature. NRS 128.106(2) (emphasis added).

A one year old child receiving a second or third degree burn to the left side of his face is cruel and abusive. In such cases, "the injuries speak for themselves...and permit an inference of abuse to be drawn from of the child's age and that his condition is such as, in the ordinary course of things, does not happen if the parents, who have the responsibility for, and the control of the infant, are

protective and nonabusive." <u>In re Tashyne L.</u>, 384 N.Y.S.2d 472, 53 A.D.2d 629 (1976).

The medical impression for CHRISTOPHER JR.'S injuries was for "non-accidental trauma." The Court found that The Ms. DeBerry physically abused CHRISTOPHER JR. causing his abusive injury. The medical testimony was consistent with an iron being held to CHRISTOPHER JR.'s in order to create the second or third degree burn. R.A., pages 0106-0107. The injury was physically abusive or physically cruel.

The Ms. DeBerry neglected CHRISTOPHER JR. by failing to seek timely medical care for his injuries. R.A., pages 0107-0108.

Therefore, substantial evidence does support the district court's conclusion that Ms. DeBerry was an unfit parent.

### C. Failure of Parental Adjustment

Failure of parental adjustment occurs when a parent is unable, within a reasonable a time, to correct the conduct that led to the child being placed outside the home. NRS 128.0126. Failure of parental adjustment is established when a parent fails to comply with a case plan to reunite the family within six months after the child has been placed outside the home. D.R.H., 120 Nev. at 428.

## 1. There Was Not Substantial Case Plan Compliance and Therefore Token Efforts.

The objective of Ms. DeBerry's case plan that directly addresses

CHRISTOPHER JR.'S physical abuse required her to 1) address the cause of

CHRISTOPHER JR.'S injury; 2) identify the precipitating factors that led to CHRISTOPHER JR.'S physical abuse; and 3) develop a safety plan to avoid future occurrence.

At one year of age, CHRISTOPHER JR. did not cause his own injuries.

Someone inflicted these injuries on CHRISTOPHER JR. and Ms. DeBerry

testified that she was the only adult in the home at the time that CHRISTOPHER

JR. sustained the burn. CHRISTOPHER JR.'s injuries are the result of nonaccidental trauma i.e. physical abuse. R.A., page 0106, lines 24-28, R.A. page

0107, lines 1-7.

In such cases, "the injuries speak for themselves…and permit an inference of abuse to be drawn from of the child's age and that his condition is such as, in the ordinary course of things, does not happen if the parents, who have the responsibility for, and the control of the infant, are protective and nonabusive." In re Tashyne L., 384 N.Y.S.2d 472.

A parent must "acknowledge and recognize abuse...for any meaningful change to occur." In re S.R., 600 N.W.2d 63 at 65. Meaningful therapy "to remedy the conditions which resulted in the removal of the child must consist of more than a mere denial of all culpability or responsibility of past conduct." In re Sonia H., 576 N.Y.S.2d 165.

Despite medical evidence to the contrary, Ms. DeBerry continues to profess that CHRISTOPHER JR. accidentally burned his own face from an iron falling on

him. An apparent incident which no one actually witnessed and which is inconsistent with the medical opinion of an expert in child abuse. Ms. DeBerry has not offered another possible cause of CHRISTOPHER JR.'S injury.

Fifty-eight (58) months after CHRISTOPHER JR.'S abuse, Ms. DeBerry has not "identified the factors which led to CHRISTOPHER JR.'S abuse." <u>Id.</u> at 200, 47. Ms. DeBerry has not identified the triggers that led to CHRISTOPHER JR.'S abuse. <u>Id.</u> at 200, 114, 134. Ms. DeBerry has not identified the chronology that led to CHRISTOPHER JR.'S abuse. Ms. DeBerry has not developed a safety plan to prevent further abuse having failed to recognize that CHRISTOPHER JR. Ms. DeBerry has not completed a single part of the most important objective of her case plan. <u>Id.</u> at 43.

After engaging in individual therapy with two separate counselors, Ms. DeBerry did not make any progress in identifying the cause of CHRISTOPHER JR.'S injury, the triggers that led to his abuse, the precipitating factors that led to the abuse. All she did was stay entrenched in her denial of responsibility and accountability for causing CHRISTOPHER JR.'S injuries. <u>Id</u>. at 168.

It was uncontroverted that Ms. DeBerry failed to address the cause of CHRISTOPHER JR.'S injuries, the precipitating factors, her triggers, or the chronology that led up to CHRISTOPHER JR.'S abuse and Ms. Deberry's attempts to claim otherwise is disingenuous. Therefore, the District Court finding

of failure of parental adjustment and token efforts was supported by substantial evidence.

Additionally, pursuant to NRS 128.109(1)(b), Ms. DeBerry's failure to substantially comply with the terms and conditions of her case plan within six months of its filing is evidence of failure of parental adjustment. Therefore, the district court's conclusion that Ms. DeBerry failed to substantially comply with her case plan and that she only engaged in token efforts was supported by substantial evidence.

### 2. NRS 128.107(4)

NRS 128.107(4) examines whether additional services would be likely to bring about *lasting* parental adjustment enabling the return of the child to the parent within a *predictable* amount of time. (Emphasis added). "It is not enough to simply comply with a case plan if the lessons the case plan seeks to address are not learned." K.D.L., 118 Nev. 737 at 743. Fifty-eight (58) months after removal, Ms. DeBerry is in the **same** position she was in May 2010. She has not even begun to address CHRISTOPHER JR.'S physical abuse. There is nothing to show that additional services will bring about lasting parental adjustment in any amount of time. Her testimony remained consistent throughout the entirety of the case, she was the only adult in the home when the burn occurred, she did not see the events that led to the burn and she could only report what she claims her daughter said which was that CHRISTOPHER kissed the iron. That explanation

was found to lack credibility by a Hearing Master, to be inconsistent with a medical expert certified as an expert child abuse and by a District Court Judge on two separate occasions.

### C. NRS 128. 105(e)

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